
 

1 

Final Minutes 
HUD Manufactured Housing Consensus Committee 

Holiday Inn Select 
Chantilly, VA 

June 14-16, 2006 
 
Wednesday, June 14, 2006 
 
1. Chairman Roberts called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m. He introduced the 

two new members of the MHCC - Michael Lubliner in the User Category and 
Chris Stinebert in the Producer Category.  He noted the Committee is still 
short one General Interest/Public Official member.  Mr. Solomon called the 
roll; a quorum was present.  See attendance list – Attachment A. 
 

 
Mr. Roberts reviewed the agenda.  Mr. Ghorbani asked that a discussion of 
lead holes for lag screws and drip pan/drain outlets, unavailable standards, 
and a HUD training session on the new CCI guidelines be added to the 
agenda.  Mr. Roberts assigned these topics to the Standards Subcommittee.   
 
Mr. Ghorbani indicated that several other issues should be addressed – the 
AO communication to the Secretary regarding Subpart I, NFPA as the model 
standards developer, and, the formaldehyde notice.  He noted that the MHCC 
Subpart I letter transmitting the MHCC comments was not clear in that it was 
a new submission on the proposed Subpart I, not a resubmission of the 
earlier comments.  As such, he expected that the comments would be part of 
the Federal Register publication of the proposal.  Mr. Cunningham indicated 
that he would look into how the submission was being handled.  He also 
noted that the cover letter would have no impact on HUD’s consideration of 
the comments.   Ms. Brenton moved that the second paragraph of the letter 
be removed.  Motion seconded.  Mr. Matchneer reiterated that the letter 
would have no influence on HUD’s decisions on Subpart I.  Motion defeated 
six in favor, 12 opposed. 
 
Mr. Cunningham noted the resignation of Mr. Conte from the Committee.  He 
stated that Mr. Conte had been a valuable participant in the Committee’s 
deliberations and that he had spoken to Mr. Conte about his resignation.  He 
noted that Mr. Conte indicated that he resigned because of some of the 
contention, lack of civility and lack of good working relationships within the 
Committee.  Mr. Cunningham stated that he hoped, as we move forward, that 
we consider what and how we say to each other.  He stated that HUD is 
trying to listen to the Committee as we move ahead. 
 
Mr. Nunn indicated that he had an MHRA report reviewing the HUD report on 
Hurricane Charley damage to manufactured homes.  A discussion of label 



 

2 

supplies was added to the Regulatory Enforcement agenda; Mr. Gorman 
indicated that it would be covered on a subsequent conference call. 
 
The agenda was approved.  Approval of the minutes was postponed until the 
Friday morning session.  Guests introduced themselves. 

 
2. Mr. Matchneer reported that the proposed Installation Program was published 

today.  There is a 60-day public comment period. 
 

Mr. Matchneer reported that there was not much progress on the On-Site 
rule; other issues are in front of it.  The final Dispute Resolution rule is in 
internal clearance; he expects it will be published before the next face-to-face 
meeting of the MHCC.  He noted that HUD had received an enormous 
number of comments on the Installation Standard making development of the 
preamble difficult.  He noted that the MHCC had seen the final draft of the 
standard.  He expects to send the document to OMB for its 90-day review 
within a month.  He noted that with the Installation Program out, HUD can 
now move on to the second set of changes to the Construction and Safety 
Standards.    

 
Mr. Bryant asked whether there would be a 180-day period for 
implementation of the Installation Standard.  Mr. Matchneer indicated there 
would be at least 180-days as this will be a major new standard. 

 
Regarding the ground anchor test protocols, HUD PD & R has contracted with 
the Steven Winters firm.   Mr. Crandall noted that the contract calls for 
evaluation of conventional anchors, non-conventional anchors, and, 
classification of permanency.  He indicated that most of the effort thus far has 
been on the second issue.  A literature review has been conducted and 
related standards have been reviewed.  He noted that the MHCC ground 
anchor test protocol is a major step forward and the failure criteria are 
consistent with other standards.  He noted that improvement is needed in soil 
characterization, safety factors - considering test variability, performance-
based criteria, loading rate, and, pretensioning to reflect field practice.  There 
is considerable test data available which is being reviewed.  Variability across 
sites is being examined.   The test plan is to be revised to allow for verification 
of the MHCC protocol.  Testing will be conducted at two sites and a third site 
is being looked at.  He indicated that testing should be completed by August 
and a preliminary report should be available by October.  Mr. Tomasbi 
expressed a concern that when conducting performance-based testing the 
anchors might be placed too close together and share the same soil.  He also 
expressed a concern about soil classification.  Mr. Vogt noted that soil type 
has a great influence.  Mr. Crandall indicated that three types of soil will be 
tested.  He stated that the soil pocket penetrometer is not very accurate, a 
cone is better.  The ASTM visual classification will also be looked at.  Mr. 



 

3 

Zieman asked whether seismic conditions would be examined.  Mr. Crandall 
indicated that they would, as will loading and bias. 
 
 Mr. Matchneer noted that whole house ventilation will be discussed by the 
Standards Subcommittee.  He acknowledged that there is not agreement on 
the issue. There is a concern that a 90-cfm fan may limit the size of the 
house.  Mr. Lubliner noted that he had worked with Mr. Zieman on a proposal 
to be discussed by the Standards Subcommittee.  Mr. Tomasbi expressed a 
concern that manufacturers not be put through an AC process while the issue 
was being looked at.   
 
The Truss Testing Task Group has not met since April.  Mr. Matchneer stated 
that Commissioner Montgomery has noted a need for better testing of 
trusses. 
 
Mr. Matchneer noted that an update on the third set of revisions to the 
Construction and Safety Standards has been provided to the AO.  He noted 
that a proposed rule for the second set of standard revisions is in progress; 
the preamble has to be written, the cost analysis is in process.  He expects to 
put the rule into internal clearance within 1-2 months.  The microwave issue is 
addressed in both the second and third set of standards revisions. 
 
Regarding implementation of a standards updating process, the Committee 
has recommended that a request for proposals be published in the Federal 
Register in 2006 to comply with the requirement in the MHIA 2000 for biennial 
review.   Mr. Solomon recommended that the request also be published in 
ANSI Standards Action.  Mr. Race suggested that an ANPR could be issued. 
 
Mr. Matchneer indicated that he expected the proposed Subpart I rule would 
be submitted for internal clearance before the end of the year.  The delay has 
been a resource issue. 
 
Mr. Matchneer noted that the projected order of projects is Dispute 
Resolution, Installation Standards, second set of Construction and Safety 
Standards, and then, On-site Completion. 
 
Mr. Matchneer indicated that the contract for an Administering Organization is 
a work in progress.  Two proposals have been received.  In the interim an 
extension of the current contract is being sought.  He also reported that the 
Committee vacancy is also being worked on. 
 
Regarding the 2007 budget, Mr. Matchneer reported that HUD is seeking 
approval to have the ability to charge a fee-for-service for new programs.  
Fees would be routed back into the program; the process details have to be 
worked out.  Mr. Cunningham noted that HUD is looking for maximum 
flexibility. 



 

4 

 
Regarding fire sprinklers, HUD is not working on the issue.  Industry prefers a 
preemptive rule rather than piecemeal requirements.  Mr. Vogt questioned 
why sprinklers might be required for manufactured homes when there is not a 
requirement for site built homes, although he thinks such a requirement is 
coming.  Mr. Kuchnicki noted that the 2006 IRC does not have such a 
requirement.  Mr. Vogt suggested that CO detectors should be looked at by 
the Standards Subcommittee. 
 
HUD staff was asked to tell the Committee what information is needed to 
justify removal of the requirement for posting the formaldehyde notice. 

 
3. Mr. Cunningham reviewed HUD’s manufactured housing enforcement activity.  

He distributed a description of HUD’s current enforcement practice, a report 
on significant enforcement actions, and, model letters sent to manufacturers 
and to IPIAs. He noted that monthly meetings are held with program 
engineering staff, consumer staff, Office of General Counsel staff, and the 
program monitoring contractor to review reports from monitoring contractors, 
SAAs and others to consider HUD action.  He noted that, per month, an 
average of 4-6 situations out of about 15 situations reviewed are worthy of 
pursuing on an inquiry basis.  Mr. Vogt noted that these numbers do not 
include those situations handled by SAAs.  Mr. Lamont asked how long it took 
for a consumer compliant to reach HUD and for HUD to resolve it.  Ms. Cocke 
stated that all were different.  Mr. Cunningham stated that the take-away is 
that there are some real situations behind the Construction and Safety 
Standards and that the MHCC is involved in an important activity. 

 
Mr. Roberts asked whether thought has been given to enforcement of the 
Installation Standards.  Mr. Matchneer stated that once the Installation 
Standards have been in-place, a process could be developed.  Mr. Ghorbani 
noted that 80% of Subpart I issues are installation problems.  Mr. Race stated 
that many are latent defects and for that reason the notification provisions are 
important.  Mr. Lagano asked how issues other than construction and safety 
standard issues are handled.  Mr. Matchneer stated that Congress has not 
given HUD the same task as for construction and safety issues.  In states that 
do not have viable programs, HUD will step in.  He also noted that the 
Dispute Resolution Program is available to address complaints.  Ms. Downs 
asked how many states need a HUD presence.  Mr. Matchneer indicated 
initially 10-15, particularly those with few manufacturers in the state.  He 
stated that HUD works to recognize as much equivalency as possible. 

 
4. Mr. Roberts asked whether the MHCC wanted to submit comments on the 

proposed Installation Program.  The Committee was unanimously in favor of 
doing so.  Mr. Roberts then led a review of the proposed Installation Program.  
He recommended that the initial focus be on Subparts A and I.  Comments 
developed by the Committee are in Attachment B. 



 

5 

 
The Committee recessed for the day at 5:10 p.m. 
 
Thursday, June 15, 2006 
 
The Committee reconvened at 8:00 a.m. 
 
5. Ms. Downs asked how consumers could obtain information on installation 

prior to purchasing a manufactured home.  Mr. Lubliner indicated that retailers 
provide information at the point of sale.  Mr. Walter noted that the MHI has 
consumer information. 

 
The Committee recessed until 2:30 p.m. for Subcommittee meetings.  
 
The Committee reconvened at 2:30 p.m. to resume review of the proposed 
Installation Program. (See above) 
 
The Committee recessed at 5:00 p.m. 
 
Friday, June 16, 2006 
 
The Committee reconvened at 8:00 a.m. 
 
6. Mr. Solomon called the roll.  A quorum was present.  Mr. Roberts reviewed 

the agenda for the session. 
 

7. Mr. Roberts called for public testimony. 
 

The Vent Free Gas Products Alliance made a presentation on their products 
and distributed copies of a proposal to permit the use of unvented 
supplemental gas heating appliances complying with ANSI Z21.11.2 
 
Mr. Nunn distributed an MHRA Review of HUD’s Report of the Impact of 
Hurricane Charley on Manufactured Homes.  The review had been requested 
by MHI.  The MHRA review concluded that homes had been subjected to a 
“design wind event” contrary to the HUD study conclusions.  Both reports 
state that manufactured homes built to the 1994 HUD standards performed 
well.  Mr. Stinebert stated that MHI felt obligated to go back and review the 
data since HUD had concluded that the exposure was not a design wind 
event.  Mr. Lubliner noted that the post hurricane Andrew changes to the 
standards were working.  Mr. Roberts noted that “competing” studies 
unfortunately raise questions about the credibility of both.  It would be better 
to point out the weakness of the methodology. 

 
8. The minutes of the June 27/August 6, 2003 conference call, February 22, 

2005 conference call, May 25, 2005 conference call, November 29-December 



 

6 

1, 2005 meeting, December 19, 2005/January 11/12/23/February 23, 2006 
conference call and May 24, 2006 conference call were approved as 
submitted. 

 
9. The Subcommittee rosters were reviewed.   Mr. Weinert requested removal 

from the Dispute Resolution Subcommittee.  Mr. Berger expressed a concern 
about balance on the Subcommittees.  An unofficial updated Subcommittee 
roster is attached as Attachment C. 

 
10.  The Subcommittees reported on their activity.  No proposals were presented 

to the Committee for approval. 
 
11.  A conference call was scheduled for July 24 and 28, 2006 - 3 hours each.  

The next meeting of the MHCC was tentatively scheduled for March 5-8, 
2007.  The Installation Subcommittee scheduled a conference call for 11:00 
a.m., July 27, 2006.  The Standard Subcommittee scheduled calls for July 10, 
2006 (truss testing), and August 9, 2006.  The Special Projects Subcommittee 
will schedule a call in late August. 

 
12.  Mr. Roberts thanked the members for their participation.  The meeting 

adjourned at 10:15 a.m. 



 

7 

ATTACHMENT  A 
 

HUD MANUFACTURED HOUSING CONSENSUS COMMITTEE 
 

June 14 – 16, 2006 
Holiday Inn Select 

Dulles Expo & Conference Center 
Chantilly, VA 

 
STATUS: M=MEMBER; NVM=NON VOTING MEMBER; 
 AO= Administering Organization; SEC=SECRETARY 

NAME STATUS ORGANIZATION Wednesday 
June 14 

Thursday 
June 15 

Friday 
June 16 

Dana Roberts M Oregon Manufactured 
Homeowners Assoc. X X X 

Pat Toner Sec NFPA/AO X X X 
Jack D. Berger M Consultant X X X 
Karl Braun M NAMH – MHOAA X X X 
Susan Brenton M MHCA X X X 
C. Edgar Bryant M Champion Enterprises X X X 
Catherine Downs M NHTSA X X X 
William Farish M Fleetwood Homes  X  
Danny Ghorbani M MHARR X X X 
Doug Gorman M Home – Mart, Inc. X X X 

William J. Lagano M Commonwealth Consulting 
Corp. X X X 

Ronald V. LaMont M Alpine Engineering Products X X X 

Michael Lubliner M Building Science Specialist 
WSU Energy Program X X X 

Archie Major M Consultant X X X 
Jerome L. McHale M FMHO of Florida X X X 
Terry Nelson M MHOA OF IL X X X 
Chris Stinebert M President & CEO of MHI X X X 
Nader Tomasbi M Liberty Homes, Inc. X X  

Randy E. Vogt M State of MN – Dept. of 
Administration X X X 

Richard Weinert M State of CA X X X 
Mike Zieman M RADCO  X  
William W. Matchneer DFO HUD X X X 
Robert Solomon AO NFPA X X X 

 



 

8 

ATTACHMENT  A 
 

HUD MANUFACTURED HOUSING CONSENSUS 
COMMITTEE 

GUEST ATTENDANCE  
June 14-16, 2006 

Holiday Inn Select  
Dulles Expo & Conference Center 

Chantilly, VA 

NAME ORGANIZATION 
ATTENDANCE 

Yes                No 
Chauncey, Knute  TIE Down Engineer X  

Cocke, Liz  HUD X  

Corneijo, Eleonora HUD X  

DeLima, Henry DeLima Associates X  

Draughn, Elsie HUD X  

Early, Chris U.S. Dept. of Energy X  

Ferrante, Vic HUD X  

Kayagil, Joan HUD X  

Kelley, Bob  MHI X  

Kuchnicki, Richard International Code Council X  

Larson, Lon Oliver Tech., Inc. X  

McJury, Jason IBTS X  

McKee, Shawn  HUD X  

Mendlen, Rick  HUD X  

Nunn, Mark A. MHI X  

Race, Peter  HUD X  

Tompos, David A NTA, Inc. X  

Walter, Frank  Consultant G.I. X  

Weiss, Mark  Weiss & Wilson, P.C. X  

Weldy, John CMH Manufacturing Inc. X  
 
 
 
 
 
     

 
 



 

9 

ATTACHMENT B 
 
MHCC RESPONSE TO PROPOSED MODEL 
INSTALLATION PROGRAM 
24 CFR Part 3286 [Docket No. FR–4812–P–02; HUD–2006– 0167] 
RIN 2502–AH97 
Manufactured Home Installation Program 
 
 

Meeting 
Draft 
Page 
Number 

Rule Paragraph 
Number 

SUGGESTED REVISION 

 Subpart A  
 General Consider applying program to subsequent set(s) of a home  
 General Delete reference to “lease” and “lessee” globally 
37 3286.2 (d) – new Add ”exemption for Indian reservations and federal lands”  
38 3286.3 Certification 

of installation 
Should be 3286.111 

38 3286.3 Defect Insert “for the purposes of this subpart” after “Defect” and insert “installation” 
after “”construction” 

38 3286.3 Design Insert “for the purposes of this subpart” after “Design” and “installation” after 
“structures”  

38 3286.3 Installation Insert “completion of” after “means” and “assemble” after “done to”  
39 3286.3 Installation 

instructions 
Insert “or approved alternate” after “specifications” 

42 3286.5(a) Delete “at least”; change “a” to “the; insert “as provided elsewhere” at end of 
sentence. 

42 3286.5(c) Move (c) to section C on installer licensing 
43 3286.5(d)(2) Delete “for more than 30 days” 
43 3286.5(d)(2) Add guidance on ventilation of closed-up homes and sections 
44 3286.7(b)(3) Delete (3), renumber (4)-(6) 
44 3286.7(b)(6) Delete “in order to …damaged in transit” 
46 3286.9(c) 3rd line Delete “at least” 
46 3286.9(d)(2) Change (2) to new (e) titled “Alternative installation instructions” 

 
46 3286.9 new (e) Change “occupants” to “residents” 
46 3286.11 Insert “and ventilation” after “support” 
48 3286.17 Insert “within 120 days” after “MHCC with an opportunity to comment” 
   
 Subpart I  
82 3286.801 Insert “minimum” between “meets the” and “requirements” 
82 3286.803(b)(1),(3), 

and (4) 
Delete “initial” 

83 3286.803(c)new “(c) State plan--suggested provision. 
The following is not required to be included in the State plan, but is urged as 
necessary to provide full consumer protection and assurances of manufactured 
home safety: 
Provision for inspection of used manufactured homes and requirements under 
State authority that used manufactured homes meet a minimal level of safety 
and durability at the time of sale” 



 

10 

Meeting 
Draft 
Page 
Number 

Rule Paragraph 
Number 

SUGGESTED REVISION 

83 3286.803(b)(5) Assurance that adequate funds will be devoted to the administration and 
enforcement of the program 

83 3286.803(c)(2) Change “3years” to “5 years” 
85 3286.805(c)(1) and 

(2) 
Make time period same in both paragraphs 

85 3286.807(a)(1) Delete (1); make (a) one paragraph 
86 3286.807(c)(1) Reword paragraph to make clear there is no gap in coverage 
87 3286.809(b) Add sentence to make clear that there will be no gap in coverage 
87 3286.811 Change “any other … housing program” to HUD’s Manufacturing Housing 

Construction and Safety Standards and enforcement programs”  
87 3286.811 Add sentence to indicate that an approved state installation program preempts 

local requirements 
87 3286.811(b) Insert “completion” after “installation” 
93 Question 8 Delete “manufactured home installation” 
93 Question 9 Delete “initial” 
95 Question 14 Move to Part III 
95 Question 15 Delete 

 
 



 

11 

ATTACHMENT  C Revised as of  6/19/2006 

Standards 
Regulatory 
Enforcement Installation 

Planning & 
Prioritization Special Projects 

Mike Zieman*, 
Chair (GI) 

Doug Gorman*, 
Chair  

Bill Lagano*, Chair 
(GI) 

Susan Brenton*, 
Chair (GI) 

Jerry McHale*, Chair 
(U) 

  
Ground Anchor Task 
Group  

Task Force on 
Accessibility 

Users         
 Karl Braun* Karl Braun* Jack Berger* Karl Braun* Dana Roberts* 
Jack Berger Jack Berger* Karl Braun*  Terry Nelson* 
Jerry McHale* Terry Nelson* Archie Major*  Jack Berger* 
Archie Major* Jerry McHale* Dana Roberts*  Jerry McHale*, Chair 
Michael 
Lubliner* Archie Major* Michael Lubliner*   
Dana Roberts*     
 Producers         
Bill Farish* Danny Ghorbani* Danny Ghorbani* Doug Gorman* Ed Bryant* 
Ronald Vincent    
Lamont* 

Ronald Vincent 
Lamont* Doug Gorman*  Danny Ghorbani* 

Nader Tomasbi* Ed Bryant* Nader Tomasbi*  Doug Gorman*(p) 
Ed Bryant* Chris Stinebert*  Lon Larson  Chris Stinebert* (p) 

 Mark Nunn 
Doug Gorman*, 
Chair Mark Nunn   

 John Weldy  Knute Chauncey   
  Bert Kessler   
 General Interest/Public Official       
Randy Vogt* Bill Lagano* Randy Vogt*  William Lagano* (p) 
Richard 
Weinert* Susan Brenton* Richard Weinert* 

Susan Brenton*, 
Chair Susan Brenton*(p) 

Catherine 
Downs* Randy Vogt* George Porter   Catherine Downs* 

Frank Walter Mike Zieman* 
John Ingargiola, 
FEMA  Frank Walters 

Mike Zieman*, 
Chair Richard Weinert* Mike Zieman*  Julie Combs 
  Frank Walter   
  Bill Lagano*, Chair    
 HUD/AO Staff         
 Rick Mendlen Angelo Wallace Rick Mendlen Elizabeth Cocke Bill Matchneer* 
 Shawn McKee Patricia McDuffie Shawn McKee Elsie Draughn H. Lane Pethel 
    Patricia McDuffie 
 6 Users 5 Users 5 Users 1 User 4 Users 
 6 Producers  5 Producers 7 Producers 1 Producer 4 Producers 
 5 GI/PO 5 GI/PO 7 GI/PO 1 GI/PO 5 GI/PO 
 2 HUD 2 HUD 2 HUD 2 HUD 3 HUD 
[*=MHCC Member]       [GI/PO = General Interest/Public 
Official]   

 


